1965

# Frank Fuoco and Anna Fuoco v. Benjamin H. Williams and Verna v. Williams : Appellant's Brief

### STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is the second appeal from judgments of the District Court of Salt Lake County in this case which involves a boundary line by acquiescence.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case in the second trial was tried to the court. From a judgment for the defendant, plaintiffs appeal.

The plaintiffs brought this suit against the defendants to quiet title to a tract of land located in Salt Lake County, specifically described in the complaint, to enjoin the defendants from trespassing and for damages. The defendants answered and counterclaimed alleging ownership and right of possession of a specifically described tract of land and praying for injunctive relief and damages. The plaintiffs filed a motion for a summary judgment based on an affidavit and map which indicated that an overlap of approximately 20 feet was created by a tie to a "county monument in the intersection of two county roads" which first appears in the defendants' chain of title in a deed to the defendants dated October 31, 1950. (R. 7-9).

After hearing, the trial court granted the motion for summary judgment, holding that the plaintiffs had record title to the 20 feet. However, the court permitted the filing of an amended answer and counterclaim to plead title by adverse possession and acquiescence. (R. 10). Such amended pleading was filed. (R. 14-17). At the pre-trial conference the court ruled that before the defendants could present evidence upon the issue of adverse possession "they must supply the plaintiffs with a copy of the tax description showing description of the property under which they claim to have paid taxes . . . at least ten days prior to the trial." (R. 19-21). This was not done. The only remaining issue was title by acquiescence.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The plaintiffs seek reversal of the judgment and judgment in their favor quieting title to the real estate in dispute as a matter of law, or that failing, a new trial.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The twenty-foot strip of land in dispute is shown on Exhibit P-1 by the letters "ABCD", "AB" being the boundary line claimed by the defendants and "CD" being the line claimed by the plaintiffs. (R. 20). See also the area marked on Exhibit P-1. The property in question is located near the intersection of Highland Drive and 3900 South. Defendants built a fence along line "CD" a short time before the suit was filed. (R. 66, 67). This precipitated the suit.

The testimony of the defendant, B. H. Williams, is set out rather fully because the appellants claim that no title by acquiescence was proved, and that if there is proof anywhere in the record it is by the following testimony.

Mr. Williams, when asked "if there was any line of any kind dividing the Butterworth property" from that of his father stated, "There was no fence in there, just east of the ditch." (R. 47). Mr. Williams then stated that the ditch was placed there in about 1916 or 1917 and the questioning went on to show the present location of the ditch. (R. 47). No statement was ever made that the ditch is the actual boundary.

Mr. Williams went on to testify that the ditch was used to irrigate the Butterworth property. (R. 50), [Butterworth land is the same as that now owned by Mr. Fuoco, R. 54], and that no person ever used the ditch to take care of land east of the ditch. (R. 51). It was also stated by Mr. Williams that the ditch "was deep enough to be clearly seen at any and all times" since 1920. (R. 53). And, that neither Mr. Butterworth, nor any other owner of this property, made any claims to any land east of the ditch. (R. 54).

On cross-examination, the ditch was described as follows:

"Q. How deep and wide was that ditch as it ran south from the point where it crossed the lane?

A. It was two good plow furrows, 12-inch plow *furroughs*.

Q. In other words, what would a plow furrow be?

A. 12 inches.

Q. 12 inches by 6 or 8 inches deep?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you think the ditch would be maybe 2 feet wide, 6 or 8 inches deep?

A. Yes, sir." (R. 65).

Also:

"Q. Now, Mr. Young — or Mr. Williams, I think you have testified that that ditch has never been changed in location since it was built along about 1915 or 1916?

A. A foot or two east or west.

Q. Has it been moved east or west?

A. That is what I say, it could have been moved east or west.

Q. It could have been moved a foot or two east or west?

A. It is in the same location as it is located in now.

Q. I will ask you if it is in the same location now as it was in 1950?

A. Yes, that is right. That is where the ditch is, just west of my fenceline." (R. 65, 66).

With respect to the ditch, plaintiff, Mr. Fuoco, testified that he didn't see a ditch when he walked over the ground before purchasing (R. 91), nor later (R. 99). Plaintiff's witnesses, Janet Sander and Frank Young described the ditch as "not much of a ditch," (R. 144) and "a little ditch that runs south, but it wasn't up to much." (R. 150). Plaintiffs' witness, Grace Young, describing the ditch, stated, "I would say like I said, that somebody just took a shovel and shoveled it off."

With respect to the entire Fuoco tract of land, it was clearly shown in the trial that for a number of years this area had grown up in weeds. (R. 81, 120, 121, 142, 155). Williams said it had been in weeds except for one year, since 1939. (R. 81). Mr. Oman stipulated that "it has grown in weeds for the last fifteen years or so." (R. 142).

Mr. Williams testified that he leased and farmed what is now the Fuoco property in 1923 or 1924 and then his father leased it from about 1925 to 1934. (R. 79, 80). Williams again used the Fuoco land from 1934 to 1937 and Leone Le Chaminant farmed it from 1937 to 1939. From 1939 to 1959 the irrigation ditch was not used except for one year. (R. 81, 82).

The Williams land east of the ditch was used for a manure pile and stack yard until about 1938 when the barn was moved. (R. 71-73). There is no evidence of use until 1950 when Williams planted a garden. (R. 83).

The only other testimony of Mr. Williams which bears on the question of acquiescence is as follows:

“Q. Mr. Williams, as to any work you did, or your father did, raising crops over on Butterworth’s land, did you divide the crop between yourself and Butterworth?

A. Yes. We took two thirds and gave Butterworth one-third.

Q. And I asked you what line you used to divide the Butterworth crop from your crop.

MR. SKEEN: I object as calling for a conclusion of the witness.

MR. OMAN: He did the work.

MR. SKEEN: It is a conclusion to say what line was adopted and further it is leading.

THE COURT: Use the word ‘ditch’ then.

MR. OMAN: I beg your pardon, your Honor. I didn't hear you.

THE COURT: Restate the question.

Q. (By Mr. Oman) Mr. Williams, did you divide with Butterworth all crops raised on the west side of this ditch we have been talking about?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you give him any part of the crop raised on the east side of that ditch?

A. No, sir.

Q. You claimed that property as your own?

A. Yes, sir." (R. 83, 84).

The trial court found in favor of the defendants as to the location of the ditch and acquiescence in the ditch as a boundary line. (R. 26-28).

This appeal is taken from the judgment of the trial court.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

1. The defendants failed to prove the long, continued existence of a monument definitely establishing a boundary line.

2. There is no evidence that the parties mutually recognized the ditch as the boundary line.

## ARGUMENT

### 1. THE DEFENDANTS FAILED TO PROVE THE LONG, CONTINUED EXISTENCE OF A MONUMENT DEFINITELY ESTABLISHING A BOUNDARY LINE.

As indicated in the trial, all of the issues in this case have been resolved, except the issue of title by acquiescence. (R. 45). The record title to the twenty-foot strip of land in dispute is in the appellants.

This Court has held that in order to make a case under the acquiescence doctrine, it *must* be shown:

(1) There was uncertainty as to the location of the true boundary.

(2) The parties have occupied their respective parcels up to an open boundary line, visibly marked by monuments, fences or buildings.

(3) The monument, fence or building must have existed for a long period of time.

(4) The monument, fence or building must have been mutually recognized as the dividing line.

Fuoco vs. Williams, 15 Utah 2d 156, 389 P.2d 143; King vs. Fronk, 14 Utah 135, 378 P.2d 893; Brown vs. Milliner, 120 Utah 16, 232 P.2d 202; Glenn vs. Whitney, 116 Utah 267, 209 P.2d 257; Ringwood vs. Bradford, 2 Utah 2d 119, 269 P.2d 1053; Hummel vs. Young, 1 Utah 2d 237, 265 P.2d 410.

In the case of *King vs. Fronk*, supra, the court referred to the boundary marked on the ground as "monuments visibly placed," "monumented line," and an "existing line marked by monuments." The only basis for acquiescence in this case was considering the irrigation ditch to be a "monument" within the meaning of the rule.

A monument is defined by the dictionary as "permanent landmarks established for the purpose of indicating boundaries." *Bouvier's Law Dictionary*, Third Edition.

Obviously an irrigation ditch is not ordinarily constructed for the purpose of marking a boundary. It is used for carrying water to the place of use and must be constructed to conform to the slope and contour of the land and to connect with the water source and with other ditches and laterals. An irrigation ditch, particularly a small ditch, would not give notice to one who views it that it would establish a boundary line as in the case of a fence or building. If we assume for the sake of argument that the land in each tract was occupied up to a small ditch, such as the one involved here, this fact alone would not put the parties upon notice of intent to claim ownership of the ditch. A landowner "could not irrigate uphill from a ditch" and the fact that his neighbor used the land to the ditch could easily be explained as a neighborly act or a grant of license.

From the evidence it is clear that there was not a monument of the kind contemplated by the rule and

there is no evidence that there was anything on the ground of long and continued existence *definitely* establishing a boundary line. It was stipulated that the Fuoco property, including the twenty-foot strip, was in weeds for at least 15 years immediately prior to the filing of this suit. (R. 142). As indicated above, Williams testified that the ditch was only used in one year from 1939 to 1959. (R. 81, 82).

Because the whole tract of land was in weeds for such a long period of time, it is evident that the parties were not occupying up to an open boundary line, visibly marked, as is required for acquiescence in this jurisdiction. *King vs. Fronk, supra*. See page 7 of this brief.

The ditch, it was testified to by Mr. Williams, has been moved "a foot or two east or west," or "Could have been moved a foot or two east or west." (R. 65, 66). A boundary which has been moved or could have been moved, even a foot or two, does not fall within the definition of a "monument,"—see page 3 of this brief,—as it is not a permanent landmark. A boundary to land cannot be such that it can be moved around at will, this is another reason why the ditch in this case should not be considered a long, existing monument establishing a boundary.

The location of the ditch was also disputed. Mr. Williams tied the location of the line to two landmarks. One was "just east of the ditch." (R. 47). The present fence was built "right on the edge" of the ditch, (R.

53) and the present fence, he stated, is "about in the same line" as some old fence posts which have since rotted out. (R. 62). The present fence was constructed shortly before the trial (R. 66, 67) so this attempted tie is of little help. Mr. Williams then said the fence along the east side of Frank Young's property, the property north of the lane, has been within a foot or two of its present location for 60 years. (R. 63, 118). The Young fence is shown on Exhibit P-1 by some red crosses. (R. 118). Mr. Williams did not tie the present fence or the old fence posts with anything but the present ditch, or with the west side of his father's property. (R. 62).

The second reference point used was an old flume which crossed the lane and carried water to the ditch in question. This, it was stated by the witnesses testifying to it, crossed the lane at the south end of the Young fence. (R. 64, 119, 150, 168). Mr. Williams said the ditch crossed the lane and ran 18 or 20 feet west before going directly south. (R. 65). Plaintiffs' disinterested witnesses testified that the ditch ran directly south from the flume as follows:

Mr. Sanders: The old fence posts were in line with the Young fence and the ditch ran "directly south" of where it crossed the lane. "There was no jog in there." (R. 134).

Mr. Young: The ditch ran south, "just on a degree to the southwest." But, there were no jogs. "It

run straight, come across the road and run straight down in front of the barn.” (R. 150, 151).

Mrs. Sander: The ditch went south from the flume. (R. 143-144).

On cross-examination, Mr. Williams was asked to locate the old fence posts on the map. In so doing, he placed some pen circles on the red line, “CD”, on Exhibit P-1. (R. 62). That line is the line plaintiffs are claiming and the circles were also placed on a line with the fence on the east side of Frank Young’s property. It should be noted that the flume was also on this line. (See Exhibit P-1).

We submit that the evidence fails to show a monument of any kind which was intended to establish a boundary and that the evidence is in dispute as to the location of the small ditch which it is claimed by the defendants marks the boundary. Williams’ evidence as to location is contradictory and vague. He testified that the ditch was located near old fence posts which he indicated on the map Exhibit P-1 exactly on the boundary line claimed by the plaintiffs; (R. 118), and then on redirect testified in response to a leading question that he intended to put the marks where the present fence is located. (R. 30-31). He admitted the ditch had been moved and all the disinterested witnesses whose testimony is quoted above testified that the old ditch, prior to 1954, had been about 20 feet east of the present ditch. It is apparent from the foregoing that if a small, two-plow furrow ditch can be

used as a "definite" monument within the rule of this court established in this case on the previous appeal, and in *King vs. Fronk*, supra, confusion and chaos in land cases will be the result.

**2. THERE IS NO EVIDENCE OF MUTUAL RECOGNITION OF THE DITCH AS A BOUNDARY LINE OVER A LONG PERIOD OF TIME.**

The record discloses the following with respect to ownership of the land on each side of the ditch as follows:

*Williams Property*

Prior to 1935	Henry Benjamin Williams
1935 to 1950	Mercy Hodgson Williams
1950 to present	Defendants (R. 9)

*Fuoco Property*

1896 to 1936	Melinda H. Butterworth
1936 to 1951	Annie N. M. Christensen and Effie G. Butterworth
1951 to 1959	H. Leland Christensen
1959 to present	Plaintiffs (R. 8, 9).

During the twenty-year period prior to the commencement of suit, from 1942 to 1962, there is no evidence of recognition of the ditch as a boundary line by

Fuoco and his predecessors in interest. There is no evidence by written or oral agreement or by acts or conduct. In fact, the testimony of the defendant, Benjamin Williams, is that for a period of 20 years from 1939 to 1959 the Fuoco property was cultivated only one year (Williams did not know what year) and the rest of the time it grew up in weeds. (R. 81, 82). It was held in the case of Fuoco vs. Williams, supra, that use of the land up to a ditch on each side of the ditch is not such acts or conduct as would show mutual recognition of the ditch as a boundary line. The Court said:

“ . . . In the case at bar it was conceded that defendants had occupied the land up to the ditch for a long period of years and that the dispute was between adjoining land owners. The evidence presented shows the ditch was used for irrigation purposes and the record is void of any evidence showing that the plaintiffs’ predecessors ever acquiesced in it as a boundary line; therefore, the first issue must be resolved in favor of the plaintiffs.

As to the second issue, we believe that the court erred in telling the jury that the only question was the location of the small irrigation ditch, since such presentation to the jury was based on the assumption that the irrigation ditch was dug where it was *for the purpose of establishing a boundary* and not for the purpose of irrigating land. Any number of ditches could criss-cross one’s property for the purpose of irrigating land without any contention or realistic assumption that they were to be boundary lines, —even though by permission, others may have used the dry land in between. . . . ”

The Court reversed and remanded with the following instructions:

“Therefore, the judgment of the trial court is reversed and remanded for a new trial with instructions to the effect that the judge or jury should determine the matters of whether the ditch was *acquiesced in* over a long period of time, as a *boundary* and not simply as an irrigation medium. . . . ”

In the second trial, as indicated above, there is not only a failure on the part of the defendants to show acquiescence in the ditch as a boundary over a long period of time, but the proof is that there was no occupancy up to the ditch. The land grew up in weeds (except for one year) from 1939 to 1959. This testimony of Williams certainly negatives occupation up to the ditch and makes this case weaker than the one which was reversed.

During the period from 1923 to 1924 the evidence is that Benjamin Williams leased what is now the Fuoco property and farmed the land on both sides of the ditch on a crop share basis. Williams testified that during that period of time the crop returns on the land west of the ditch were divided on the basis of one-third and two-thirds with Butterworth. Butterworth is referred to as “him” (R. 83) and neither his relationship to the record owner, Melinda Butterworth, nor his identity is disclosed in the record. *There is no evidence that Williams’ father, who succeeded Williams as lessee from 1924 to 1934, divided the crop proceeds on the*

*basis of the ditch.* (R. 80). Thus, for a period of 29 years out of the 38 years immediately prior to filing the suit (for 19 years it was in weeds and for 10 years it was leased by Williams (R. 80))—the defendants could not have been occupying the land adversely to plaintiffs or their predecessors. If the division of crop receipts constituted acquiescence it was only for one year and did not meet the requirement of “acquiescence over a long period of time.”

Under a familiar rule of law, a lessee cannot take advantage of the landlord and tenant relationship to defeat the title of the landlord. The rule in this jurisdiction is stated in *Woodbury vs. Bunker*, 98 Utah 216, 98 P.2d 948, as follows:

“ . . . So long as the tenant remains in possession, his possession is that of the landlord, and he cannot by words or acts make his possession of that of one whom he permits upon the premises a possession adverse to the landlord. . . . ”

The defendants having failed to prove the necessary elements of a title by acquiescence, the record boundary line “CD”, Exhibit P-1, must stand as the true boundary.

It is respectfully submitted that the judgment must be reversed. The District Court should be directed to enter a judgment for the appellants.

**E. J. SKEEN**  
522 Newhouse Building  
Salt Lake City, Utah  
Attorney for Plaintiffs and  
Appellants