1965

Frank Fuoco and Anna Fuoco v. Benjamin H. Williams and Verna v. Williams : Respondent's Brief

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

ARGUMENT IN AFFIRMANCE

THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS FINDING THAT DEFENDANTS HAD ACQUIRED TITLE BY ACQUIESCENCE.

- A. The court correctly relied upon the finding made by the jury in the previous trial with respect to the location of the particular ditch involved in this controversy.*
- B. The defendants did prove the long, continued existence of the said ditch as a monument definitely establishing a boundary line mutually recognized*

by appellants' predecessors and by defendants and their predecessors as such.

A. *The court correctly relied upon the finding made by the jury in the previous trial with respect to the location of the particular ditch involved in this controversy.*

In the earlier Supreme Court decision, *Fuoco vs. Williams*, 15 Ut.2d 156, 389 P.2d 143, in which the judgment for defendant, Benjamin H. Williams was reversed and remanded for a new trial, the court said:

“The court erred in telling the jury that the only question was the location of the small irrigation ditch, since such presentation to the jury was based on the assumption that the irrigation ditch was dug where it was *for the purpose of establishing a boundary* and not for the sole purpose of irrigating the land.”

The court further stated:

“The judgment of the trial court is reversed and remanded for a new trial, with instructions to the effect that the judge or jury should determine the matters of whether *the ditch* was *acquiesced in* over a long period of time, as a *boundary* and not simply as an irrigation medium.”

It is from this language and similar language throughout the opinion that the lower court in the present trial correctly concluded that it was not the intent of the Supreme Court that the issue with respect to the location of the ditch be relitigated.

The latter above-quoted statement of the Supreme Court refers specifically to the issue of acquiescence in the ditch (referring here to that ditch located by the jury in the previous trial) *as a boundary line* and makes no reference to the issue of location. From this language it would seem that the Lower Court was correct in its interpretation of the Supreme Court's previous decision.

It is the law in Utah that an issue which has been properly litigated in a court of competent jurisdiction is conclusive upon the parties and those in privity with them and cannot be relitigated in another court by the same parties in an action upon the same matter. *Matthews v. Matthews et al.* (142), 102 Ut. 428, 132 P.2d 111. In the *Matthews* case the court said:

“Public policy requires that parties ought not to be permitted to litigate the same issue more than once, and, that when a fact has been judicially determined by a court of competent jurisdiction or an opportunity for such trial has been given, the judgment of the court so long as it remains unreversed, should be conclusive upon the parties and those in privity with them in law or estate.”

It is respectfully submitted that the issue concerning the location of the ditch was not open to relitigation in the present trial.

B. The defendants did prove the long, continued existence of the said ditch as a monument definitely establishing a boundary line mutually recognized

by appellants' predecessors and by defendants and their predecessors as such.

Where there is no proof of an actual agreement the court has relied upon the doctrine of boundary by acquiescence and implied an agreement if certain elements be shown to exist. The elements which must be shown by the person claiming title by acquiescence are: (1) occupation up to a visible line marked definitely by monuments, fences or buildings, (2) acquiescence in the division line as the boundary, (3) acquiescence for a long period of time and (4) acquiescence by adjoining landowners.

Where the preceding requirements are met, a rebuttable presumption arises that the parties have agreed the boundary should be the one in which they have acquiesced, wholly apart from whether or not an actual express agreement was made. If the presumption arises the burden shifts and it becomes incumbent upon the party who assails the title by acquiescence to show by competent evidence that a boundary was not thus established.

Fuoco vs. Williams, 15 Utah 2d 156, 389 P.2d 143; King vs. Frank, 14 Utah 135, 378 P.2d 893; Nunley vs. Walker, 13 Ut.2d 105, 369 P.2d 1117; Affleck vs. Morgan, 12 Ut.2d 200, 364 P.2d 663; Harding vs. Allen, 10 Ut.2d 370, 353 P.2d 911; Brown vs. Milner, 120 Utah 16, 232 P.2d 202; Glenn vs. Whitney, 116 Utah 267, 209 P.2d 257; Ringwood vs. Bradford,

2 Utah 2d 119, 269 P.2d 1053; Hummel vs. Young, 1 Utah 2d 337, 265 P.2d 410; 3 Utah Law Review.

Plaintiffs contend that defendants failed to prove a "mutual recognition" of the particular irrigation ditch as a boundary.

An irrigation ditch can become a boundary line or monument if such be the intention of the adjoining landowners. Monuments include such natural objects as mountains, streams, trees, etc., or artificial objects such as roads, fences, walls, ditches and other similar matters marked or placed on the ground by the hand of man. 12 Am Jur 2d (Boundaries) Sec. 4 & 5, pages 549 thru 551.

The record is clear that Mr. Williams, the defendant, and his predecessors, under claim of title, occupied and used the property lying immediately east of the ditch bank far in excess of twenty-five (25) years to the exclusion of all others.

Plaintiffs' witness, Owen Sanders, testified that the property west of defendants' old barn to the east of the ditch in question was used by defendants and their predecessors as a place to throw refuse, manure, as a lane over which to drive their wagons and hayracks, as a place to grow apple trees and for gardening. (R. 81, 82, 85). Mr. Sanders further testified that to his knowledge defendants and their predecessors were the only persons ever to use the property east of the present ditch as it runs parallel to the fence

now in existence. (R. 86, 87). Mr. Frank Young, witness for plaintiffs, testified that the property west of the barn and to the east of the ditch was used by defendants and their predecessors for gardening, to raise corn, to grow fruit trees, in part for a corral, etc. (R. 109, 110). Mr. Young also testified that he has never seen anyone other than defendants or their predecessors doing anything with the property east of the fence line as it is now constructed. (R. 117). Mr. H. Leland Christensen, another witness for plaintiff, testified that he remembered defendants placing corn shocks on the west end of their property. (R. 137). Defendant Benjamin H. Williams and his sister, Mrs. Afton W. Marker, both testified that defendants and their predecessors had used and occupied the property in question for over 20 years—more nearly 50 years—to the exclusion of all others under claim of title to the property. (R. 7, 8, 12, 28-34, 58, 59, 60, 62).

The Supreme Court in its earlier decision, *Fuoco vs. Williams*, *supra*, on this matter, stated that:

“The plaintiffs conceded that the defendants had been cultivating the ground up to the ditch for oiver 20 years.”

It is respectfully submitted that defendants were occupying and using all of the property from their east boundary along Highland Drive west to the ditch in dispute, to the exclusion of all others.

Mr. Frank Young, witness for plaintiffs, testified that Mr. Butterworth, former owner of the tract now

owned by plaintiff, Frank Fuoco, attempted to raise corn and potatoes at one time. (R. 111). As was pointed out, supra, Mr. Young also testified that he has never seen anyone other than defendants or their predecessors using the property east of the ditch in question and the present fence line as it is now constructed. (R. 117). It is logical to infer from this testimony that Mr. Butterworth farmed only up to the ditch and would seem to indicate that Mr. Butterworth probably used the water from the ditch in question to irrigate his crops. Defendant, Ben Williams, testified that Leone LeCheminant grew crops on what is now the Fuoco property up to the west side of the ditch in question for two or three years. (R. 38). This fact is also recognized by plaintiffs in their brief at page 8. Plaintiffs' witness, Mr. H. Leland Christensen, testified that he farmed what is now the plaintiffs' property at one time and did use water for irrigating from the particular ditch in question. (R. 135). This fact was also recognized by plaintiffs' witness, Mr. Young, in his testimony. (R. 112).

Plaintiffs' witness, Mrs. Grace D. Young, testified that because of a hump located on what is now the plaintiffs' property the land was difficult to irrigate and flooding would sometimes occur when an attempt was made to irrigate this property. Perhaps this is an explanation for plaintiffs' predecessors letting the land grow up in weeds for many years.

The fact that all witnesses testified to the existence

of the ditch in question would seem to be evidence enough of its visibility.

Mutual recognition of a boundary line may be shown by acquiescence over a long period of time. It is not incumbent upon the defendants to show an express agreement between themselves and plaintiffs' predecessors in the title in order to prevail. An implied recognition of a boundary line may be supplied by the passage of time. *Fuoco vs. Williams*, 15 Ut.2d 156, 389 P.2d 143; *King vs. Fronk*, 14 Ut.2d 135, 378 P.2d 893; 3 Utah Law Review.

Plaintiffs' predecessors and the defendants and their predecessors have for many years intended that this irrigation ditch constitute the boundary line. The testimony indicates that the ditch was constructed along the east side of the plaintiffs' property for the purpose of irrigating that property and was placed along what was considered to be its east boundary. (Old R. 114 (New R. 4, 7, 10, 90, 126, 130)). Since the property of the parties slopes from the east to the west, it was assumed many years ago that the ditch in question was on the boundary line of the two parties. It is illogical that, at the time the irrigation ditch was constructed, it was not placed on what plaintiffs contend is the boundary line, approximately twenty feet east of the position where it was actually located, unless the adjacent property owners considered the boundary line to be where the ditch was located. The land at the time the ditch was constructed was pri-

marily farm land. The feeder ditch or canal serving the plaintiffs' property flowed from the east to west to the northeast corner of plaintiffs' property. It would have been a simple matter to bring the ditch across the road from north to south at the actual record boundary to irrigate all of the tract if the boundary line were not considered to have been in the location as claimed by defendants. When land is being used as farm land and is being served by irrigation water, it would be unwise, to say the least, for the owner of the land not to construct his irrigation ditch on what he treated as his property line, so that he would not lose the use of any of his property through lack of water. It is not logical to say that plaintiffs' predecessors, to be neighborly, allowed a twenty-foot strip of their farmland to lie east of the ditch where it could not be irrigated so that their neighbors could use the land.

Plaintiffs' predecessors in title made no objection and it was assumed by others living in the area that the ditch in question constituted the boundary line between the two properties. The plaintiffs have lived in this neighborhood for many years themselves and have owned and tilled the land adjacent on the south of the property they recently acquired from Butterworth. They knew of the sale ten or more years ago on the south part of the Williams' property to one Hansen (the north part of said tract was conveyed to respondents by the said deed of 1950), and know that the west line of the tract claimed and occupied by Hansen

had been tightly fenced by him since his acquisition of that part of the Williams property. (R. 49, 60, 87); that said fence was in direct line with the fence constructed by defendants conveniently close to and on the east bank of the irrigation ditch of plaintiffs', which had been acquiesced in and recognized for nearly fifty years as the division line of these properties. Hansen had also constructed a concrete wall and fence along the boundary of the property between the lot he had acquired from Williams' parents and that of defendants. This wall extended all the distance to the southwest corner of the land claimed by defendants, down to the said ditch on the line AB. (R. 11, 12, 61, 68, 79). The whole or former Williams tract, as it existed, before the south part thereof was sold to Hansen, had a common west boundary, and with the lands acquired by plaintiffs recognized all of these years. The ditch extends the entire distance of this old west line of the Williams property, and has done so for many years.

Plaintiffs had personal knowledge, before they bought the tract to the west of the Williams tract from Butterworth, that this line had already existed for all the years they had lived in the neighborhood. They tilled the land immediately south of the south side of the old Williams property. Plaintiff, Frank Fuoco, indicated in his testimony that he did not farm the 25 foot strip in dispute located just east of the irrigation ditch because he did not know it was his until the recent survey was conducted. (R. 53). Plaintiffs did not in-

tend to buy any land lying east of this line from Butterworth, but claim to find, after surveying out the description in the Butterworth deed to them, that they had acquired twenty feet more than they had expected to acquire. They now desire that the boundary line be changed and moved back to the east about twenty feet, after it had been used, acquiesced in, acknowledged, and recognized as the property line for nearly fifty years.

Defendant, Benjamin H. Williams, testified that either he or his father had leased what is now the Fuoco property during the period from 1923 or 1924 to 1937 and one other year sometime between 1940 and 1959. (R. 37). Defendants further testified that only the crop returns on the land west of the ditch were divided on a crop-share basis with their lessor. As to the proceeds from the crop raised east of the ditch, Mr. Williams testified that defendants and their predecessors retained all proceeds. (R. 40). Defendant, Ben Williams, also testified that the ditch in question was used to irrigate what is now the plaintiffs' property lying to the west of the ditch. (R. 39). Plaintiffs presented no evidence whatsoever to contradict this testimony. It would seem that the division of crop receipts would be significant circumstantial evidence of the acquiescence of plaintiffs' predecessors in the ditch as the boundary line.

The landlord-tenant rule would not be controlling here since defendants were lessees for only a small

portion of the period during which defendants claim the ditch was acquiesced in as a boundary line.

As was pointed out, *supra*, what is now the plaintiffs' property west of the ditch in question, was farmed at different intervals of time by Mr. Butterworth, Mr. H. Leland Christensen, and Mr. Leone LeCheminant. The fact that others farmed what is now the plaintiffs' property only up to the ditch in question is significant evidence of the acquiescence of plaintiffs' predecessors in the ditch as a boundary line.

Plaintiffs contend that the ditch in question was not a permanent land mark and hence does not fall within the definition of a "monument." In support of their contention, on page 14 of their brief plaintiffs state that defendant, Ben Williams, admitted the ditch had been moved. This is not true. Though defendant stated that the ditch could have moved one or two feet either to the east or west he stated that to his knowledge it had not been so moved. (R. 23, 33). Testimony indicated that periodically the ditch required cleaning if it was to be of satisfactory use. (R. 34). The record points out that one way of cleaning the ditch is to plow it out. (R. 34). It is possible that as a result of this cleaning process or of erosion taking place that the ditch might shift slightly to the east or the west. Defendant, Ben Williams, was merely being realistic when he testified that the ditch could have shifted to the east or west—one or two feet.

As was pointed out, *supra*, the location of the ditch

was not an issue in the present trial; however, plaintiffs insist on reviving this issue in their current appellate brief (page 12). Since it was determined by the Lower Court that it was not the intent of the Supreme Court that the issue concerning the location of the ditch in question be relitigated, the fact that certain of plaintiffs' witnesses testified in the present trial that the ditch was not located where the jury had determined it to be would seem to be immaterial. As to that issue the jury's finding in the previous suit would be binding and the doctrine of res judicata should be applied. *Matthews vs. Matthews et al.*, 102 Ut. 428, 132 P.2d 111.

It might be noted, however, that the testimonies of plaintiffs' witnesses in the present trial, with respect to the location of the ditch in question, conflict either with their testimonies given in the previous trial and are inconsistent with each other in some respects in the present trial.

At one point in his testimony plaintiff, Frank Fuoco, testified that he at no time had knowledge of any ditch in the area in dispute. (R. 46, 47). Plaintiffs' witness, Mrs. Young, testified that plaintiff, Mr. Fuoco, at one time attempted to irrigate by using that ditch, which she referred to as being the original ditch, which she testified ran along the west boundary of the Williams' property. (R. 129, 131). In the previous trial, where the issue as to the location of the ditch was in dispute, plaintiffs' witness, Owen Sander, lo-

cated the ditch along Line AB by drawing a line with a dark pencil on Exhibit P-1 down the north side of the road, then crossing the road to Point A on the Exhibit, then south to his property. (R. of previous trial at 113). Mr. Frank Young, witness for plaintiff, at one point in his testimony states that the water ran south across the road and then turned west and after running west for some distance it could be turned into a ditch running south across the east side of what is now the Fuoco property. (R. 107).

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